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1. The Defendant, Phillip Smith (“ ”), denies all allegations made in the Amended Fresh as

Amended Statement of Claim (the “ ”).

Overview

2. The Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario (the “ ”), is the Administrator of

PACE Savings and Credit Union Ltd. (“ ”) pursuant to an Administration Order issued on 

September 28, 2018. The Administration Order followed a high-handed investigation of PACE, during 

which FSRA had clearly pre-judged Phil (and the other Defendants) and denied him basic procedural 

fairness. In the Claim, FSRA has asserted 11 causes of action against Phil – yet the particulars target 

other Defendants. None of the causes of action are established on the facts.

3. In summary, the FRSA’s allegations against Phil fall into three categories:

(a) Phil failed to disclose his compensation as required by the Credit Unions and Caisses

Populaires Act, 1994, SO 1994 Chapter 11 (the “ ”);

(b) Phil failed to stop PACE from entering various transactions and loans, for which he

ought to be personally liable; and

(c) Phil received, and failed to stop others from receiving, improper payments, either from

third parties on projects related to PACE’s business, or from PACE itself, pursuant to

“impugned” contracts.

4. These allegations are meritless. Phil always acted in the best interests of PACE. Moreover:
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(a) Phil always complied with the Act;

(b) Phil was not involved structuring the transactions and loans deemed improper by

FSRA, and such transactions and loans were made according to PACE’s approval and

governance processes; and

(c) Phil received no improper payments and had no knowledge of any improper payments

made to others.

5. Phil is the former Chief Executive Officer (“ ”) of PACE. He was employed by PACE

(and its predecessor organization) since he was hired as a teller and administrative assistant in 1989.

6. PACE is a credit union governed by Act. PACE operates 17 branches in Ontario and provides

personal, business, and organizational products and services. As at May 28, 2018, PACE had over $1 

billion in assets under administration and approximately 35,000 members. 

7. PACE operates various business lines, including but not limited to personal and commercial

banking, personal and commercial lending, investments, and the acquisition of and partnership with 

other credit unions.

8. FSRA – who is not a party to this claim in its own capacity – is an Ontario Provincial Agency

established under the Act. FSRA administers a deposit insurance program for all Ontario credit unions 

pursuant to the Act. FSRA first adopted this role in 2019, following an amalgamation with the previous 

regulator, the Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario (“ ”). Hereinafter, both regulators are

referred to only as “FSRA” unless specified otherwise.
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Phil is hired by PACE’s predecessor organization

9. Phil was hired by PACE's predecessor, GTA Savings and Credit Union, in 1989, on a part-

time basis. He worked as a teller and administrative assistant. In 1996, he obtained a full-time position 

as a teller.

10. In and around 1997, Phil was relocated to a different branch and took on the roles of teller and

administrator of the IBM Employees’ Charitable Fund.

Phil is promoted to Head Office

11. In and around 1998, Phil was transferred to the Head Office in an information technology role

and reported to the VP of Business Development. For several years following, Phil was responsible 

for IT tasks such as automatic payroll, troubleshooting, processing and clearing files, and 

implementing IT upgrades.

Mergers and the expansion of PACE 

12. In and around 2003, GTA Savings and Credit Union merged with PACE Credit Union and

formed PACE. As a result of the merger, Phil became Manager of IT of PACE and was responsible 

for, among other things, merging the IT systems of the two credit unions. 

13. In and around 2007, PACE merged with North York Credit Union and Phil was promoted to

Chief Financial Officer (“ ”) reporting to the corporate secretary and former CFO, Kim Colacicco, 

and Chief Operating Officer, Mary Benincasa.
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Phil is promoted to the role of CEO

14. Larry Smith (“ ”) – Phil’s father – was the the President of PACE from December 2015

until September 2018 and prior to that, was the CEO and President of PACE at all relevant times.

15. In and around 2014, Larry fell ill. The Board of Directors unanimously appointed Phil as

interim CEO.

16. In 2015, Larry recovered from his illness and was appointed the President of PACE. Around

the same time, Phil was appointed CEO. 

Activities as CEO

17. Phil was an operational CEO. As CEO, Phil oversaw the management team and was

responsible for the day-to-day operations of PACE. He reported directly to the Board. Phil did not take 

on any role in respect of sourcing business opportunities, including commercial lending, or the growth 

of PACE’s commercial lending and investment portfolio, nor did he aspire to do so. 

18. Larry had a gift for business development and was therefore responsible for sourcing

commercial loans and potential transactions during his tenure as CEO and/or President of PACE,

including while Phil was CEO.

19. Due to their familial relationship, Phil did not supervise or approve the compensation of

PACE’s President, Larry. Larry reported directly to the Board and his compensation, expenses, and 

bonuses were all approved by the Board, not Phil. 

20. The Board followed a reporting structure that had been in place for years before Phil’s

appointment as CEO and that continued once Phil became CEO. 
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21. Phil’s performance as CEO was evaluated by the Board on an annual basis and the results were

consistently favorable.

22. A key focus of PACE's business strategy is its lending portfolio. At the material time between

2015 and 2017, PACE's commercial loan portfolio grew from approximately $49 million to $396 

million. Total members’ equity over that same period grew from approximately $53.6 million to $63.1 

million. PACE paid an average of approximately $460,000 in dividends to members each year between 

2015 and 2017.

23. During the material time, once a loan was sourced and referred to PACE, it went through

various layers of review before approval, and then was subject to further review and audit by PACEs 

internal auditor, the external auditor, and DICO, as described below.

24. PACE is required to ensure that its lending practices comply with the Act, the credit union’s

policies, and FSRA guidelines; they are also approved by the Audit Committee of the Board of 

Directors (the “ ”). Furthermore, PACE monitors its impaired loan allowance on a 

month by month basis and conducts a detailed review annually.

25. Jim Tindall, Peter Rebellati, George Pohle, Brent Bailey, and Deborah Baker were all members

of the Audit Committee at some point since 2015 (the composition of the Audit Committee would 

change on an annual basis). At all material times, the Audit Committee was chaired by Ms. Baker, a 

chartered accountant. 

26. Rick Belsby of Rick Belsby & Associates (the “ ”) conducted internal audits

of PACE on a regular basis, which covers all matters within the scope of PACE. The Internal Auditor’s 
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reports were reviewed by the Audit Committee and presented to the Board. The internal audit process 

did not reveal or result in any significant issues for PACE.

27. PACE is also subject to an annual third-party audit by Deloitte LLP (“ ”). As part of

their audit, Deloitte reviews all facets of the credit union’s activity including policies, compliance, 

financial results, impairment, misstatements, and recommendations. Between 2015 and 2017, Deloitte 

identified no significant misstatements, including statements relating to compensation.

28. Pursuant to its regulatory powers, FSRA conducts on-site visits (“ ”) to inspect and

review the affairs of the credit union. As part of the OSVs, FSRA reviews Board packages, which 

provides FSRA with information about PACE’s investment activities. Additionally, FSRA routinely 

submits a “pull-list” of commercial lending matters for close review.

29. As a part of its regulatory oversight, FSRA could require that a FSRA representative attend

PACE Board meetings. From 2017 on, a FSRA representative, Roman Sochaniwsky, frequently  

attended PACE Board meetings. As such FSRA knew, or should have known, what was being 

discussed at PACE Board meetings from 2017 onward and did not object to any activities as they 

occurred. 

Role of the Credit Committee

30. As a matter of practice, commercial lending opportunities are presented to the PACE Credit

Committee (the “ ”) for approval. 

31. Before a lending opportunity reaches the Credit Committee, it has been reviewed in detail by

a commercial lending representative. After an opportunity is initially reviewed, the lending 

representative assembles a package of information for the Credit Committee. That package typically 
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includes: the lending term sheet, asset base security valuations, credit information, a summary of the 

loan, and the commercial lending representative’s recommendations for or against approval. 

32. During the presentation of the loan to the Credit Committee, a commercial lending

representative typically discusses the merits of the loan based on PACE’s lending criteria, commercial 

lending policies, the Act, and FSRA bylaws. 

33. The actions of the Credit Committee are recorded in the Minutes of the Credit Committee

meetings, which are approved monthly by the Board and recorded in the minutes of the Board 

meetings. The Credit Committee minutes include the details of the loan approvals.

34. A quorum of the Credit Committee is necessary to approve a commercial loan (except for

restricted party loans, which require Board approval). Once a loan is approved, an annual review is 

performed to ensure that the loan continues to comply with the terms of the loan agreement, that 

security continues to be adequate, and that the loan remains compliant with PACE policies and the 

Act.

Summary

35. At all material times, all of PACE’s loans and transactions were overseen by multiple

individuals, including PACE’s Credit Committee, the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors,

various PACE employees, Deloitte, and FSRA. Phil had no power of authority to approve loans or 

transactions on his own, nor cause loans or transactions to be rejected. Further, Phil did not to attempt 

manipulate or falsify Board (or Board committee) approval of loans, transactions, and/or fees 

involving PACE, nor conceal the payment of any monies to Larry or others; nor did Phil acquiesce to 

such conduct. Kim Colaccio, PACE’s former CFO, Corporate Secretary and Compliance Officer, was 

a member of the Credit Committee at all material times and never raised any concerns regarding 
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PACE’s compliance with the Act, Regulations, or FSRA by-laws; nor did Ms. Colacicco ever raise 

any other compliance issues.

36. On March 31, 2016, a report on the Review of the Mandates of the Financial Services

Commission of Ontario, Financial Services Tribunal and the Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario 

was released (the “ ”).

37. Among other things, the Ritchie Report was critical of DICO, noting that its mandates were

unclear and outdated, and it was in an inherent conflict of interest as both a prudential regulator and 

an insurer. 

38. The Ritchie Report recommended the creation of a new, independent, and integrated regulator

called the Financial Services Regulatory Authority and concluded that DICO’s independence and 

efficiency could be enhanced by transferring its prudential oversight and regulatory functions to

FSRA.

39. DICO had acknowledged at various times prior to the investigations at issue in this action and

the Administration Order, that its preference was for PACE to merge or be acquired by a larger credit 

union.

DICO discovers no issues during routine investigation in 2017 

40. In or around May 29 to June 2, 2017, DICO conducted an OSV. As part of this review, DICO

was provided with minutes and packages from Board meetings up to and including March 2017. The 

Board minutes and packages disclosed the details of a particular transaction with the Continental 
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Currency Exchange (the “ ”). The CCE transaction was also included on the pull list 

from this OSV.

41. Despite having pulled and reviewed the CCE Transaction and a related loan, DICO did not

raise any concerns specific to these transactions in its report. 

An anonymous letter of complaint is sent to DICO

42. In and around October 2017, DICO received an anonymous letter regarding the CCE

Transaction, which prompted DICO to investigate further. 

DICO initiates a further investigation in 2018

43. In and around March 21, 2018, DICO delivered a letter to PACE’s management team and to

Ian Goodfellow, the chair of the Board, setting out certain concerns based on the information that 

DICO had received as a result of the anonymous letter. DICO’s concerns included (among other 

things) the CCE Transaction and described steps that PACE could take to remedy what it saw as the 

issues with the CCE Transaction (which issues are denied).

44. DICO requested a meeting with PACE’s management and Board to discuss the concerns set

out in its letter. Amongst the individuals that DICO met with were Phil, Larry, Mr. Goodfellow, and 

Ms. Baker.

45. Phil understood the meetings to be forums for open discussion with DICO about the concerns

set out in DICO’s letter. DICO did not advise Phil that any statements made in the meetings would be 

relied upon as his formal response to the allegations set out in the letter, nor did DICO advise him to 

seek legal advice or retain counsel to represent him at these meetings.
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46. Without notice to Phil, in May 2018, DICO engaged KSV Advisory Inc. (“ ”) to conduct

an examination and audit (the “ ”) of PACE.

47. On May 10, 2018, DICO met with the Board and informed them that the Special Audit was

commencing. DICO asked the Board to keep the reasons for the investigation confidential. 

48. At DICO’s request, Phil was interviewed by KSV on May 18, 2018. He was not permitted to

have counsel in attendance. 

49. Phil cooperated with DICO and KSV during this examination. He provided DICO and KSV

with access to his laptop and phone. As Phil’s laptop and phone included both personal and 

professional information, DICO and KSV executed an acknowledgment promising to seal the 

information from the laptop and phone until such time as a court order was obtained that would govern 

the document review protocol. 

50. Despite this, no document review protocol was ever proposed by DICO and KSV.

51. Phil is not aware of the full scope of information reviewed by DICO during the Special Audit.

52. Throughout the course of the investigation, DICO failed to particularize its allegations against

Phil and did not allow Phil to respond to these allegations. 

FSRA issues an Administration Order 

53. On or around September 28, 2018, without any prior notice to Phil, DICO made an application

for an Administration Order under section 295 of the Act granting DICO the authority to assume the 

powers of the Board and take control of PACE. This was the first time that DICO advised Phil of 
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allegations of his involvement in “improper and unlawful activities against the Credit Union”, despite 

a series of correspondence with his counsel beginning in June 2018. 

54. Prior to this point, no significant issues were ever raised by PACE, the Board, Deloitte or DICO

in respect of Phil’s conduct as CEO.

55. PACE immediately suspended Phil’s employment without providing him an opportunity to

respond to the allegations. DICO represented that Phil would have an opportunity to respond before 

any final decision was made in respect of his employment or ongoing involvement with PACE. 

Improper seizure and set-off of Phil’s funds

56. As early as November 2018, Phil had difficulty accessing his PACE accounts and noticed that

funds had been removed from his accounts. It was not until on or around March 19, 2019 that PACE 

obtained, without notice to Phil, an order that froze Phil’s accounts and appointed a monitor over Phil’s 

assets.

57. When Phil complained about funds being removed from his accounts, DICO, as administrator

of PACE, claimed it was exercising a right of set-off. 

58. There is no juristic reason entitling the administrator to seize funds from Phil’s accounts for

set-off purposes; moreover, set-off is a defence.

Improper handling of Defendant’s documents

59. On or around November 6, 2018, PACE compiled a document review database that contained

a complete copy of the materials from Phil’s laptop and phone, in direct breach of its obligations under 

a Document Preservation Acknowledgement between KSV, DICO, and Phil.
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60. The documents in the database include approximately 340,000 documents, including Phil’s

personal and solicitor-client privileged information and communications. 

Termination of Phil’s Employment

61. On December 5, 2018, DICO, as administrator of PACE, issued a letter terminating Phil’s

employment for cause. At no time had he been given an opportunity to respond to PACE’s allegations.

62. Phil denies that there was cause for his termination and has brought a claim for damages for

wrongful dismissal, amongst other things (Court File No. CV-19-00628710-0000) (the “

”), which is ongoing. 

Results of FRSA’s Administration

63. As a result of the investigations, the subsequent Administration Order, and the termination of

Phil, the normal course operations of PACE, including the advancing of commercial and personal 

loans, has declined. PACE is not renewing loans as they mature, and it is no longer seeking out 

business opportunities or commercial loans. Accordingly, its loan portfolio has diminished with 

corresponding impact on the credit union’s valuation, making it an attractive target for a merger or 

acquisition.

64. Phil’s compensation as CEO included an annual salary, an annual bonus allocation, and

benefits. Phil’s annual bonus entitlement was set by Larry in conjunction with the Chair of the Board 

and the Chair of the Audit Committee and was approved by the Board. For the years ending December 

31, 2016 and December 31, 2017, part of Phil’s bonus was paid to Phil personally and part was paid 

to 809755 Ontario Ltd. (“ ”), for tax reasons. FRSA has not particularized any amount by which it
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claims Phil’s income was underreported. Phil denies that he underreported income pursuant to the 

requirements of the Act and Regulations (as defined in the Claim), or at all, and puts FSRA to the 

proof thereof.

65. In 2016, Phil was awarded a bonus of $400,000, of which $150,000 was payable to Phil directly

and $225,000 was payable to 809. In 2017, Phil was awarded a bonus of $320,000, of which $150,000 

was payable to Phil directly and $170,000 was payable to 809. These amounts were fully disclosed in 

PACE’s financial statements. However, for these years, there was an unintentional error in Note 24 of 

PACE’s financial statements. Note 24 is a supplementary compensation disclosure item. For 2016 and 

2017, Note 24 only included the bonus and car allowance paid to Phil personally and not the portion 

of Phil’s bonus paid to 809. Phil did not prepare Note 24 and does not know who prepared it. Phil does

not recall focusing on Note 24 during his review of the financial statements.

66. Lastly, the income reporting obligations of section 140 of the Act and section 28 of the

Regulations fall upon PACE as an organization, not Phil personally. FSRA has no cause of action 

against Phil for breach of those sections and, in any event, the obligations imposed upon PACE were 

always complied with. 

67. The Claim does not make allegations against Phil in respect of all PACE transactions and loans

impugned in the Claim. FSRA alleges that Phil was involved in the following transactions and loans

(each as defined in the Claim, if not defined above): (i) the CCE Transaction; (ii) the Geranium Joint 

Ventures; (iii) the SusGlobal Energy Corp. Loan; (iv) the Lora Bay Loans; (v) the Inveraray Loan; 

and, (vi) the Legasco Transaction (collectively, the “ ”). Phil denies any 

wrongdoing with respect to the Impugned Transactions.
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68. The Claim also makes allegations against Phil in respect of (i) a failure to abide by FSRA By-

Law No. 6; and (ii) alleged “false invoices” rendered by Larry. Phil denies any wrongdoing with 

respect to FSRA By-Law No. 6 and regarding the alleged “false invoices”.

69. Further, the Claim seeks damages from Phil in respect of a line of credit advanced to the public

storage facility Noble House but makes no allegations as to actions or omissions by Phil regarding the 

Noble House line of credit. If this claim for damages is not a drafting error, Phil denies any liability 

regarding the Noble House line of credit. A credit adjudicator and the Credit Committee approved the 

Noble House line of credit in the ordinary course. Phil was not present at the Credit Committee meeting 

that considered the Noble House line of credit because he was on vacation.

70. The following general context is important in assessing the Impugned Transactions.

71. First, Phil did not source any of the Impugned Transactions, nor did he negotiate their terms.

72. Second, Phil did not receive a referral fee or any other “finders fee” compensation regarding

any of the Impugned Transactions, nor was he aware of most of the fees that are alleged to have been 

paid regarding the Impugned Transactions. Phil did not approve any of the fees that are alleged to have 

been paid. 

73. As discussed in more detail below, Phil only received one payment relating to an Impugned

Transaction: a $50,000 consulting fee related to the CCE Transaction, which was disclosed to and 

approved by the Board. The funds for this fee did not come from PACE.  

74. Third, other than the CCE Transaction, Phil’s role in the Impugned Transaction was limited to

his role on the Credit Committee and his operational responsibilities as CEO. Phil did not have any 
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ability to “cause” PACE to enter, or not enter, any of the Impugned Transactions or stop the alleged 

improper payments.

75. Fourth, at all material times, Phil believed the Impugned Transactions were in the best interests

of PACE.

76. In 2016, PACE acquired a 30% interest in Continental Currency Exchange (“ ”), with the

intention of later obtaining regulatory approval to acquire CCE in its entirety. The CCE Transaction 

was structured so that PACE would own the maximum allowable percentage at the time (30%), until 

such time as FSRA granted approval for PACE to acquire the rest: 

(a) 30% would be purchased by PACE directly;

(b) 45% was purchased by 2340938 Ontario Ltd. (“ ”), using an interest-bearing loan

from PACE, secured by the shares of CCE. The intention was for PACE to acquire this

additional 45% once capital levels were achieved and regulatory approval was

obtained; and

(c) The remaining 25% was retained by the vendor – Scott Penfound – who was the

President and founder of CCE, who had significant management experience with CCE

and who would remain at CCE until such time as PACE was in a position to fully

purchase his interest.

77. The Claim makes no allegations specific to Phil regarding the CCE Transaction. Rather, it

alleges that “Larry and Phil” structured the transaction to evade the regulatory requirement that limited 

PACE’s ownership interest in CCE to 30%.
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78. Phil did not participate in any “scheme” or “sham” regarding the CCE Transaction; he does

not control any corporate entities involved in the CCE Transaction, including 2340; and he did not act 

to deceive or mislead the Board. Phil’s actions regarding the CCE Transaction were approved by the 

Board, which had a full and complete understanding of the structure of the CCE Transaction and, in 

particular, that PACE hoped to eventually acquire a 100% interest in CCE (following the requisite 

regulatory approvals). Further, Scott Penfound, prior to closing of the CCE Transaction, had a lengthy 

discussion with the Board where Mr. Penfound addressed all of the Board’s questions regarding the 

transaction.

79. In April or May 2017, Phil received a $50,000 payment from 2340, which was made not from

loan proceeds paid to 2340 from PACE but from the first dividend payment to 2340 from CCE. This 

payment was a consulting fee for services rendered to 2340 during the CCE Transaction. 

80. The 2340 consulting arrangement and fees were disclosed to the Board in a disclosure notice

dated April 23, 2017 (the “ ”). The Disclosure Notice listed those individuals who 

were to be appointed as directors, officers, or advisors to 2340 and stated that these individuals and/or 

their related corporations or designates could receive remuneration in the form of directors, 

management and/or consulting fees not to exceed an aggregate of $300,000 per annum as approved 

by the Board.

81. Phil did not prepare the Disclosure Notice or arrange for its approval. The Disclosure Notice

was approved by the Board on April 26, 2017 as acknowledged by the Chair of the Board, Ian

Goodfellow, and the Chair of the Audit Committee, Debra Baker.

82. The CCE Transaction has been highly profitable for PACE.
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83. FSRA has effectively made three non-specific allegations against Phil relating to the various

Geranium Joint Ventures: 

(a) The joint ventures were, in effect a “bad deal” for which “Larry and Phil” “failed to

cause” PACE to conduct sufficient due diligence;

(b) The joint ventures are contrary to sections 198 and 200 of the Act; and

(c) Phil failed to prevent the payment of “secret commissions” to Larry and Frank Klees

related to the joint ventures.

Phil Was Not Involved in Sourcing or Structuring the Joint Ventures, and They Were Not a “Bad 
Deal”

84. PACE’s involvement in the Geranium Joint Ventures began in 2010. These opportunities were

sourced and negotiated directly by Larry. Phil was not at all involved in sourcing or negotiating these 

ventures; he did not negotiate or otherwise influence the capital contributions or profit allocations. All 

Geranium Joint Venture agreements were approved by the Board on behalf of PACE. Phil did not have 

the authority to commit PACE to the joint ventures and did not purport to do so. 

85. The Geranium Joint Ventures were ultimately very profitable for PACE and PACE continued

to enter joint ventures in respect of new projects between 2010-2018. 

86. The Geranium Joint Ventures and the structure of the underlying agreements were audited on

an annual basis since 2010 and subject to review by FSRA on several occasions. Yet, FSRA took no 

steps to challenge the Geranium Join Ventures until the commencement of this action.
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The Joint Ventures Complied with the Act

87. The Geranium Joint Ventures complied with sections 198 and 200 of the Act. Details of each

joint venture were publicly disclosed in the Credit Union’s financial statements, which were approved 

by the Board and ratified by PACE’s membership. Each of the joint ventures, including the ownership 

structures, was subject to rigorous internal and external audit. None of these audits raised concerns 

with the structure of any joint venture.

88. In any event, the obligation to comply with Sections 198 and 200 of the Act falls to PACE and

not to Phil. Phil cannot be personally liable for any breach of section 198 or 200 of the Act by PACE. 

Alternatively, if any of the joint ventures is contrary to those sections of the Act, then PACE has 

suffered no damage as a result of those breaches, and the allegations of breach are irrelevant to any 

claim for damages by PACE or FSRA.

Phil Did Not Approve Any Payments Related to the Joint Ventures

89. Phil did not negotiate or approve the payments related to the Geranium Joint Ventures

described in the Claim. Nor did he receive any payments in connection with the Geranium Joint 

Ventures.

90. In any event, there were no “secret commissions” paid in respect of the Geranium Joint

Ventures.

91. Alternatively, Phil could not have prevented such payments and the Board approved all

management fees that were received by Larry, 142 or 809 in connection with the Geranium Joint 

Ventures. All payments received by Larry and Klees were audited by Deloitte. 
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92. The Claim makes one non-specific and one arguably specific allegation against Phil regarding

the SusGlobal Loan: 

(a) “Larry and Phil” “caused” PACE to advance an improvident and improper loan to

SusGlobal; and

(b) “Larry and/or Phil” “caused” PACE to pay an improper “finders fee” to a third party in

relation to the loan.

93. The SusGlobal Loan was approved at a meeting of the Credit Committee held on February 1,

2017. That approval was reviewed by the Board. The Committee approved the loan based on the 

recommendation of the credit adjudicator, Brian Hogan, and in reliance on a $1.6 Million personal 

guarantee given by Mark Hazout. 

94. The loans to SusGlobal were consistent with PACE’s loan policies and the loan was

performing on its terms prior to FSRA’s unwarranted intervention. Any loss to the Credit Union, which 

is denied, will be the result of FSRA’s improper and improvident actions in its handling of the loan.

As of the date of this Statement of Defence, more than two years after the date of the Administration 

Order, the SusGlobal Loan continues to perform and the Credit Union has suffered no loss.

95. Further, Phil did not “cause” PACE to pay a finder’s fee to Mr. Williamson. That finder’s fee

was included in the initial term sheet for the loan, which was reviewed and approved by PACE in 

accordance with its normal process.

96. Phil was not aware of the US $150,000 payment referred to at paragraph 60 of the Claim.
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97. The Claim does not make any allegations specific to Phil regarding the Inveraray Glen Loans.

98. FSRA alleges that “Larry and Phil” “intentionally refused” to record bad loan charges relating

to the Inveraray Glen project, which was a real estate project pursuant to which PACE advanced loans. 

Those loans, which date back over 10 years, were reviewed and approved in the normal course by a 

credit adjudicator and the Credit Committee prior to being advanced. 

99. Contrary to the allegations in the Claim, no bad loan charge was required to be recorded

regarding the Inveraray Glen Loans, as PACE had adequate security to recover its loans, and was in 

the process of such recovery. Further, the obligation to report bad loans did not fall to Phil. That 

responsibility was with the credit officer tasked with managing the loan, and with the Credit 

Committee. Moreover, the Internal Auditor regularly reviewed the security, including property 

appraisals, to ensure that the provisions were adequate.

100. From 2015 onwards, the Credit Committee was aware of the default and of the security

available for recovery, and the Board was regularly provided with a “watch list”, which included 

entries relating to Inveraray Glen.

101. Throughout the relevant time, none of the individuals or groups tasked with the classification

of the loans on PACE’s books, while exercising their discretion, considered it necessary to record a 

loan charge, despite the fact that PACE could have received tax advantages from doing so. Phil had

no distinct personal obligation to ensure that PACE recorded a charge for which he can be liable to 

PACE.
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102. At all material times, Phil was not aware of the appraisals referred to at paragraph 70 of the

Claim (the “ ”). Phil did not hide or refuse to disclose these appraisals. The 

Credit Committee reviewed the Inveraray Glen loan at a meeting in August 2017. The Impugned 

Appraisals were discussed at this meeting, but Phil was absent from this meeting because he was 

vacationing. While Phil later reviewed the Credit Committee minutes from that meeting, they did not 

state that any allowance should have been made as a result of the Impugned Appraisals.

103. FSRA reviewed the Inveraray Glen loans in 2017 and identified no issues with respect to the

loans. 

104. Finally, FSRA has failed to identify any damages suffered by PACE that were caused by the

failure to record a bad loan charge, and there are no such damages. 

105. The Claim does not make any allegations specific to Phil regarding the Lora Bay debenture.

106. FSRA alleges that “Larry and Phil caused PACE to advance” a $6 million convertible

debenture to Lora Bay, a real estate development company, and that this credit “was contrary to the 

Credit Union’s risk tolerance and policies, and was contrary to any reasonable loan underwriting 

practices”. 

107. The Lora Bay debenture was reviewed and approved by the Board and was consistent with

PACE’s policies. 

108. The Lora Bay debenture has performed on its terms since its inception. PACE has suffered no

losses relating to the transaction.
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109. Phil did not approve the payment of consulting and/or referral fees in relation to the Lora Bay

debenture.

110. FSRA does not make any allegations specific to Phil regarding a proposed series of loans to

Lagaso.

111. The Claim impugns loans contemplated but not made to Lagaso, for the purchase of the assets

and business of Dundee Oil and Gas Limited out of its Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act

proceeding. FRSA also alleges that a $3 million loan that was previously advanced to Clear Beach,

was improvident. To be clear, no funds were ever advanced by PACE to Lagaso.

112. Phil was not involved in sourcing or negotiating the proposed loans. Phil was not aware of any

efforts to evade the restrictions under the Act and/or Regulations made pursuant to the Act. 

113. Phil was generally aware that the Lagasco transaction was being pursued, though was not

aware of any details of the proposed transaction until it came before the Credit Committee for review

on or around September 2018. 

114. However, before the Lagaso transaction could be formally approved, the Administration Order

was issued and FSRA cancelled the transaction. This was a bad business decision and Phil is not 

responsible for any associated costs.

115. Prior to the Administration Order, the existing $3 million loan was preforming on its terms

and PACE has suffered no losses relating to that loan.
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116. FRSA does not make any allegations specific to Phil regarding the alleged breach of FSRA

By-Law No. 6.

117. FSRA claims that Phil (along with Larry) is personally responsible for an alleged misvaluation

of the commercial loan portfolio. This allegation is meritless as:

(a) The Credit Committee and the Board were “ultimately responsible for the commercial

loan portfolio”, not Phil personally;

(b) The valuation of PACE’s commercial loan portfolio (including write-downs) involves

the exercise of business judgment and was done by PACE’s credit department and its

financial team, not Phil personally;

(c) PACE and its employees always exercised reasonable business judgement when valuing

its commercial loan portfolio;

(d) At all times, PACE’s commercial loan portfolio, and all the individual loans within it,

complied with relevant rules and regulations; and

(e) PACE’s commercial loan portfolio was subject to a rigorous valuation and audit process.

118. Moreover, all but one of the loans about which FSRA complains were performing on their

terms at the time of the Administration Order and PACE recovered on its security (which was 

adequate) for the one loan that was in default. Any other default on those loans, which is denied, was 

the result of FSRA’s own mismanagement of PACE, and its unreasonable decision to call loans prior 

to maturity without providing a reasonable opportunity for borrowers to obtain alternative financing. 
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By calling loans that were otherwise performing, FSRA itself caused damage to PACE by lowering 

its revenue and weakening its balance sheet.

119. FSRA alleges that Phil “acquiesced” to PACE’s payment of “grossly” inflated invoices, or

“acquiesced” to PACE’s payment of invoices for services that were not in fact rendered.

120. Phil has no knowledge of the invoices referred to at paragraphs 111 through 115 of the Claim

because they are not identified; but, in any event, Phil does not have any knowledge of inflated or false 

invoices paid by PACE. 

121. Moreover, invoices paid by PACE are inspected and approved by PACE’s internal accounting

staff, the Audit Committee, and/or the Board. During the relevant time, invoices paid by PACE were 

subject to regular audits. Phil had no input into the manner in which invoice payments were accounted 

for at PACE.

122. On February 10, 2021, the Plaintiff served its Amended Fresh-as-Amended Statement of

Claim. The amendments seek, among other things, contribution and indemnity from Phil, 

to the extent that the Credit Union is found liable for damages to any 
Investor Claimants1 …arising out of the design, development, offering, 
promotion, sale and the ultimate failure of the Preferred Shares2…, and 
any of those damages that were caused or contributed to by any of them.

1 Defined by the Plaintiff as: “all individuals asserting or who may be entitled to assert a claim or cause of action as 
against PSC or any related organizations (including the Credit Union) in respect of certain investments made by the 
Investor Claimants.”
2 Defined by the Plaintiff as: “an investment vehicle for accredited investors to earn fixed dividends from an investment 
in a basket of high-yield bonds”. The Preferred Shares were preferred shares in PFL, the proceeds of which PFL used 
those proceeds to purchase high-yield bonds on “margin” through its accounts at PSC. The interest and any trading 
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123. As a preliminary matter, there is no basis in fact or law to seek contribution and indemnity

from Phil. There is no underlying claim that Phil could chose to defend or otherwise participate in.

The Plaintiff’s potential liability to the Investor Claimants arises out of the winding-up and liquidation 

of PSC (as defined in the Statement of Claim, the “ ”). In the PSC Application, the 

Investor Claimants are pursuing claims related to the Preferred Shares through a mediation and claims 

adjudication process. PACE is a defendant in this process, Phil is not. The Investor Claimants have 

explicitly chosen not to advance a claim against Phil. As such, the Plaintiff’s claim for contribution 

and indemnity is untenable. 

124. Negligence and breach of fiduciary duty are the only causes of action pleaded to give rise to

Phil’s liability for contribution and indemnity. The Claim has not pleaded facts sufficient to establish 

a cause of action against Phil in negligence (let alone negligence for pure economic loss) or breach of 

fiduciary duty. No such facts exist. 

125. The Plaintiff alleges that Phil is liable for contribution and indemnity because Phil (and Larry

and others) “failed to properly supervise and manage the Credit Union, including with respect to its 

relationship with PSC and its subsidiaries…and to ensure that the distribution of Preferred Shares was 

conducted in a regulatory compliant manner” (the “ ”). The Plaintiff does not offer any 

particulars of Phil’s alleged failures of supervision and management.

126. Phil denies that he failed to properly supervise the Credit Union, regarding the Preferred Shares

or otherwise: 

profits earned on the bonds were used to pay management fees to PSC and dividends to the holders of the Preferred 
Shares.
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(a) The Preferred Shares were sold by Pace Financial Limited (“ ”), a

subsidiary of Pace Securities Corp. (“ ”). PSC was, in turn, a subsidiary of PACE. 

PSC had an independent board of directors (the “ ”), and independent,

experienced management. Phil has never been an officer or director of PSC or PFL (or 

First Hamilton Holdings Inc. (“ ”) – which also issued Preferred Shares).  

(b) In his role as CEO of PACE, or otherwise, Phil was never involved in and had

no obligation to be involved in the management of PSC, PFL, or FHH. The CEO of 

PSC reported directly to the Board of Directors of PACE.

(c) Phil was not a director of PACE and, therefore, did not and could not approve

any of PSC’s or PFL’s actions on behalf of PACE, including any actions related to the 

Preferred Shares.  

(d) Phil was never involved in, and had no obligation to be involved in, the design,

distribution, development, offering, promotion, or sale of the Preferred Shares, nor their 

regulation. Further, Phil denies that any Preferred Shares were sold directly by PACE 

and, if Preferred Shares were sold by PACE (which is denied), Phil had no knowledge 

of same.

127. Phil had no duty to ensure that the Preferred Shares issued by PFL and FHH were distributed

in a “regulatory compliant manner”, nor was he qualified to do so.  Neither the clients of PSC, nor 

PACE, relied on Phil to supervise PSC’s compliance with securities laws. To the extent that PSC 

required any approvals by PACE for its issuance of the Preferred Shares, and it is not clear that they 

did, PACE would have relied on PSC to advise the PACE Board about the investment characteristics
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and risk profile of the Preferred Shares and with respect to any issues of regulatory compliance related 

to their issuance.  These were matters squarely within the expertise and legal responsibility of PSC.

128. The sale of Preferred Shares was explicitly considered and approved by FSRA, despite

concerns from the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“ ”).

129. In late June 2019, IIROC gave FSRA notice of potential issues with the sale of the Preferred

Shares.

130. In response, FSRA hired an independent third-party consultant, Louise Tymocko (the

“ ”), to conduct a general review of PSC, based upon a workplan determined 

in consultation with IIROC (the “ ”). Among other things, the Independent 

Review considered regulatory compliance issues at PSC and the pricing of and policies regarding the 

Preferred Shares. As part of the Independent Review, Mitch Vininsky (the a KSV managing director 

who had lead responsibility for the Special Audit), and Paul Dempsey (FSRA senior legal counsel),

were placed on the PSC Board. FSRA also engaged an independent third-party valuator (RSM) to 

conduct an independent comprehensive valuation (the “ ”) of the Preferred 

Shares (RSM – and the terms of its engagement – was also vetted and approved by IIROC). 

131. The Independent Review was rigorous. The Independent Consultant spent at least 120 hours

on the review, including 13 days of meetings with PSC employees. 

132. Following her review, on October 30, 2019, the Independent Consultant concluded, among

other things:

(a) “overall, PSC engages in sound business practices”;
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(b) “…attention is paid to regulatory requirement and industry standards”;

(c) “qualified staff are in place for various functions, including compliance”;

(d) “staff is appropriately supervised”;

(e) “I found no evidence of ethical breaches, misconduct or inappropriate business

conduct”;

(f) “I did not find any major suitability or eligibility issues and I found nothing

which suggested any pervasive or systemic issue [regarding the Preferred Shares]”;

(g) “No issues [regarding the Preferred Shares] were noted that required notifying

the Special Committee of the PSC board of directors immediately”; and

(h) the level of risk associated with the Preferred Shares was “medium”.

133. On November 20, 2019, FSRA wrote to IIROC, summarizing the results of the Independent

Review and Independent Valuation: 

…the independent consultant has determined, after an extensive review, that here 

(e.g. determined that the issued 
securities [the Preferred Shares] had a ‘medium risk rating’). Similarly, the valuator’s 
report does not identify any issues which would give rise to any concerns of public 
harm.

and entering 
into an agreement (subject to IIROC’s consent to a change in control) to well PSC to 
its management.

(…)

Therefore, and absent receiving clear and specific information from IIROC regarding 
why PSC cannot, from a regulatory perspective, resume normal operations, 
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.

(…)

Finally, and in light of the fact that the oversight of the work plan required by IIROC 
for PSC has now been completed, the two directors which the Administrator had placed 
on PSC’s board resigned effective November 13th.

[Emphasis added.] 

134. FSRA cannot seek contribution from Phil in circumstances where, over one year after

suspending Phil as CEO, FSRA advised IIROC that there were “no grounds” to restrain PSCs 

operations and that FSRA was in fact “obliged” allow PSC to resume normal operations.

135. On November 28, 2019, IIROC responded by letter to FSRA. IIROC wrote, among other

things, “we confirm that we continue to be of the view that [the Preferred Shares] are high-risk 

securities and must not be sold unless disclosed as such.” IIROC further recommended that the holders 

of Preferred Shares undergo a suitability assessment, through which “PACE should address all 

suitability concerns identified for any client that exceeds their stated risk tolerance…and explain how 

they will be remedied.” The Plaintiff did not undertake this suitability assessment or, if it did so, it 

was inadequate. Phil pleads that, having regard to IIROC’s November 28, 2019 letter, a reasonable 

suitability assessment would have included (among other things) a written advisement to every holder 

of Preferred Shares that they should only continue holding such shares if the investor could “afford a 

total loss of their investment.”  

136. Phil pleads that had the Plaintiff immediately performed a reasonable suitability assessment,

and notified the Investor Claimants of the assessment’s conclusions, the Investor Claimants could have 

made a fully informed decision as to whether to continue holding Preferred Shares. 
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137. Further, or in the alternative, a reasonable suitability assessment should have caused the

Plaintiff to repurchase the Preferred Shares from the Investor Claimants, or unwind the Preferred 

Shares in some other manner, prior to the market crash in spring 2020. Had the Investor Claimants 

sold their Preferred Shares prior to spring 2020, or had the Preferred Shares been repurchased or 

otherwise unwound before that time, the Investor Claimants would have suffered no or de minimus

losses. 

138. The Investor Claimants’ losses are entirely the responsibility of Laurentian Bank Securities,

the carrying broker for PSC; and/or the Plaintiff. At the time that those losses were suffered, PACE 

was controlled by FSRA through the Administration Order, and it was FSRA’s management of PACE 

and PSC that caused any such losses. 

139. In early 2020, Laurentian Bank Securities, called the margin loan with which the securities

underlying the Preferred Shares had been purchased.  This was done without any reasonable 

justification.  As a result, PSC was forced to sell those securities during a global pandemic at a fraction 

of their value.

140. Moreover, in or about May 2020, FSRA and/or PACE decided to wind up PSC and PFL, which

decision ensured that the holders of Preferred Shares would lose most or all of their investment.

141. Phil did not commit fraud, deceit, or conversion in his dealings with PACE, and puts the

Plaintiff to the proof thereof. Moreover, FSRA has not pleaded allegations sufficient to establish these 

causes of action against Phil. 
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142. Phil pleads and relies on the fact that all lending activities, as well as all significant accounting

matters – which include compensation arrangements, service invoices rendered, and all impairments 

– were approved by PACE at all material times.

143. Phil did not engage in a conspiracy to injure PACE or engage in an unlawful means conspiracy

and puts the Plaintiff to the proof thereof. To the contrary, Phil always acted in the best interests of 

PACE. Moreover, FSRA has not pleaded allegations sufficient to establish that Phil participated in a 

conspiracy.

144. During the material time of Phil’s tenure at PACE, PACE's commercial loan portfolio grew

from approximately $49 million to $396 million. Total members’ equity over that same period grew 

from approximately $53.6 million to $63.1 million. PACE paid an average of approximately $460,000 

in dividends to members each year between 2015 and 2017. 

145. At all material times, Phil acted in accordance with the terms of his governing employment

contract. At no time did Phil breach any fiduciary duty or duty of care owed to PACE. Phil always 

acted in the best interests of PACE.

146. Phil did not breach his fiduciary duty to PACE. Phil always acted in accordance with his

fiduciary duty and in the best interests of PACE. 
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147. Phil did not knowingly assist in others breaching their fiduciary duties, which breaches are also

denied. None of the Impugned Transactions, the alleged failure to comply with FSRA By-Law No. 6, 

and the alleged false invoices constituted a breach of fiduciary duty by anyone. Alternatively, if any 

other person breached a fiduciary duty owed to PACE by their participation in the events described in 

the Claim, then Phil did not assist in that breach of duty. 

148. No funds described in the Claim were held in trust and, with the exception of funds held by

2340 in connection with the CCE Transaction, FSRA has not particularized any funds allegedly held 

in trust for PACE.

149. Phil was not unjustly enriched. PACE has not suffered a deprivation arising from any payments

received by Phil, all of which were received pursuant to a juridical reason.

150. PACE is not entitled to a constructive trust over any of Phil’s assets. There is no basis for a

constructive trust over any asset because damages would sufficiently compensate PACE for the harms 

alleged (which are denied).

151. Phil did not receive any funds impressed with a trust in favour of PACE and, even if Phil

received trust funds (which is denied), PACE cannot trace any trust funds into assets owned by Phil. 
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152. The Statement of Claim does not particularize to whom Phil is alleged to owe a duty of care.

In any event, Phil always exercised the care, diligence, and skill of a reasonable person in carrying out 

his roles at PACE. To the extent Plaintiff alleges that PACE and/or Phil owed a duty of care to Investor 

Claimants, such duty would be a novel duty and is denied. 

153. In any event, Phil’s actions or omissions were not the cause (proximate or at all) of any loss

suffered by the Investor Claimants, PACE and/or FSRA related to the Preferred Shares (or otherwise).

154. Even if the Plaintiff is liable to PSC and/or the Investor Claimants, no facts are pleaded or exist

that could flow this liability to Phil; there is no basis to pierce the corporate veil. At all relevant times, 

Phil never exhibited a separate identity or interest from that of PACE to make the conduct complained 

of his own. Phil never acted fraudulently, deceitfully, dishonestly or without authority in respect to the 

Preferred Shares. Moreover, neither the clients of PSC, nor PACE itself, relied on Phil to supervise 

PSC’s compliance with securities laws (nor did such a duty to supervise exist). 

155. Phil denies that PACE has suffered any damages and puts PACE to proof thereof.

156. Any losses suffered by PACE, which are denied, are the result of: (a) PACE’s own actions that

were completed in the ordinary course of business; and/or (b) the actions of FSRA; and/or the actions 

of PSC’s management and directors of which Phil had no knowledge or control. 

157. FSRA assumed control of PACE and ran it into the ground. PACE’s current financial

difficulties are unrelated to Phil’s tenure as CEO. Following Phil and Larry’s terminations in late 2018, 

PACE’s net income plunged because of FSRA’s mismanagement:
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(a) In 2017, PACE generated a net income of $5,302,091;

(b) In 2018, PACE generated a net income of $4,057,000;

(c) In 2019, PACE generated a net income of $364,000;

(d) In 2020, PACE suffered a net of $22,722,000.

2017 was the full last year of Phil and Larry’s tenure. Since FSRA assumed control of all relevant 

aspects of PACE’s business, its net income has declined a staggering . As a result, in April 2021,

PACE breached its statutory minimum capital thresholds and FSRA was required to reduce these 

minimum capital requirements and extend $500 million in credit to PACE.

158. This sad situation was not caused by the Impugned Transactions, nor any actions or omissions

of Phil. 

(a) CCE Transaction: in 2020 FSRA decided to cause PACE to acquire 100% ownership of

CCE, which current CEO David Finnie described to PACE members at the April 2021

Annual General Meeting as “fully allowed under the legislation”. Any losses related to

CCE are exclusively the result of legitimate CCE transaction costs and the COVID-19

pandemic.

(b) Geranium Joint Ventures: PACE has suffered no losses related to the Geranium Joint

Ventures.

(c) SusGlobal, Lora Bay, Inverary Glen, and Lagaso loans: these loans have always

performed in accordance with their terms. Any losses related to these loans (which are

denied), resulted from PACE’s “de-risking” agenda – a business decision of
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FSRA/PACE to offload approximately $101 million in loan balances for which Phil bears 

no liability. As stated by PACE’s current CFO Benjamin Choi at the April 2021 Annual 

General Meeting, the “de-risking” was “…not all about bad loans, we have changed our 

risk appetite…”.

Moreover, from the date of the Administration Order (September 28, 2018) to December 31, 2020,

PACE has burned on legal, financial advisory, and other expenses related to FSRA’s 

administration of PACE. As of the date of this pleading, these administration expenses continue to 

accrue.

159. Phil pleads and relies upon the Limitations Act, 2002, SO 2002, c 24, s B. FRSA discovered

the material facts relevant to the Claim more than two years before the action was commenced. 

Alternatively, the material facts upon which the claim is based were discoverable with the exercise of 

reasonable diligence more than two years before the Claim was commenced.
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160. Phil, as plaintiff by Counterclaim, claims:

(a) Damages, in an amount to be determined, for losses suffered from the freezing of Phil’s

assets at PACE and the Mareva Order (defined below);

(b) General damages for defamation in the amount of $1,000,000;

(c) Special damages for defamation in the amount of $100,000;

(d) Punitive damages and exemplary damages, in the amount of $1,000,000, for the

conduct described above and below, including but not limited to malfeasance in public

office and/or regulatory negligence;

(e) An interim order pursuant to PACE’s By-Law No. 1 and section 157 of the Act

directing PACE to make advances for the legal expenses incurred by Phil in defence of

the Claim, pending its disposition, including those costs already expended in defence

of the Claim;

(f) An order pursuant to PACE’s By-Law No. 1 and section 157 of the Act directing PACE

to indemnify Phil for his legal expenses incurred in defending the Claim;

(g) Prejudment interest in accordance with section 128 of the Courts of Justice Act, RSO

1990, c C-43, as amended;

(h) Postjudgment interest in accordance with section 129 of the Courts of Justice Act, RSO

1990, c C-43, as amended;
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(i) the costs of this proceeding, plus all applicable taxes; and

(j) such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.

161. Phil repeats and relies upon the allegations contained in his Statement of Defence and the Phil

Smith Employment Claim.

162. At 9:01 a.m. on Friday September 28, 2018, following an investigation by KSV Advisory, Phil

was advised that FSRA had taken over administration of PACE without notice. Concurrently, Phil was 

placed on administrative leave with immediate effect. FSRA’s letter stated, among other things, that 

“evidence had come to light regarding [Phil’s] apparent involvement in improper and unlawful 

activities against the Credit Union” and alleged that he had engaged in unlawful activities amounting 

to civil fraud. FRSA’s letter also stated that all accounts that Phil held at PACE, or “which [he] 

control[led]”, had been “blocked until further notice.” FRSA’s letter was so high-handed that it did 

not even allow Phil prima facie access to funds for “living necessities”.

163. FSRA stated that it would provide Phil with details of the allegedly improper and unlawful

activity that Phil “appeared to be involved in” and would “provide [Phil] with an opportunity to fully 

respond to the importation before the Administrator makes any final decisions regarding [his] 

employment and involvement with the Credit Union.” As mentioned above and in the Phil Smith 

Employment Claim, that opportunity was never provided. 

164. Phil pleads that FSRA issued the Administration Order without notice to, among other things,

avoid triggering payment of monies owing immediately owing to Phil upon his termination. Under 
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Phil’s employment agreement dated December 17, 2015, as amended December 14, 2017 (the 

“ ”), one minute before the effective date and time of an administration order, 

Phil may elect to receive his severance pay (an amount equivalent to three years’ base salary, including 

all incentive and bonus income, all benefits, car allowance, and vacation entitlement). Under the 

Employment Agreement, severance funds equal to three years’ base salary were to be placed in a trust 

account (the “ ”) for Phil’s benefit. The Employment Agreement is commercially 

reasonable, was approved by the Board, and is binding upon PACE and FRSA in its capacity as 

Administrator of PACE.

165. Indeed, in unsigned reasons delivered October 11, 2018, FSRA stated that the Administration

Order was issued under section 240.1(7) – which allows an administration order to be made without 

notice in certain circumstances – because notice would likely trigger the Termination Trust.

166. FSRA has refused to make payment from the Severance Trust.

167. Upon the issuance of the Administration Order, FSRA/PACE froze all the bank accounts and

other assets belonging to Phil, held by PACE. PACE had no right to do so. The account agreement for 

Phil’s accounts only permits PACE to freeze assets if:

(a) PACE becomes aware of “suspicious of possible fraudulent or unauthorized Account

activity that may cause a loss to [Phil], [PACE], Central 1, or an identifiable Third Party;

(b) An issue arises as to who the proper signing authorities are on the Account”; or

(c) A claim is made by a Third Party to the funds in the account which, in PACE’s sole

discretion, is potentially legitimate.
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168. None of these conditions were met, either in September 2018, or at any time. PACE has not

made any allegations against Phil relating to “suspicious or possible fraudulent or unauthorized 

Account activity.” Rather, PACE – acting in bad faith and solely in its own interests – froze the 

accounts in order to protect its litigation interests, and not for any valid or lawful reason. 

169. On March 19, 2019, FSRA obtained an order for an interim Mareva injunction (the “

”), on 45 minutes notice, against the worldwide assets of Phil (and others), and at the same time 

commenced the Claim. The Mareva Order was obtained on the basis of inaccurate and incomplete 

evidence, including a wildly inflated claim for damages. The injunction was settled on the eve of the 

return motion.

170. Phil has suffered damages, to be particularized at trial, as a result of FRSA’s illegal freeze and

depletion of his bank accounts held at PACE, and the worldwide injunction against his assets. Phil has 

suffered a loss of opportunity to profit for the inability to deploy his capital in the manner of his 

choosing.

171. FSRA, both in its capacity as Administrator of PACE and in its own capacity, caused PACE

to publish the following words (the “ ”):

(a) on November 22, 2019, PACE published a memo to all of its members. The memo

stated, among other things:

…DICO’s supervision or PACE discovered failed governance and fraud – e.g.
former senior executives acting in their own personal interest, and not in the
best interest of the credit union, but at the expense of the credit union’s
members…; and
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(b) a Notice to Members regarding an Annual General Meeting of Members on April 28,

2020, stated, among other things:

Why was PACE put under administration? 

In 2017, DICO conducted a routine examination of PACE Credit Union during
which it encountered adverse findings with respect to various areas of 
operations. The regulator conducted a diligent investigation which revealed that 
fraud had been committed by former senior executives at the expense of the 
credit union’s depositors, members, and shareholders. To protect members and 
other stakeholders, DICO/FSRA placed PACE under administration in 
September 2018. [emphasis added]

172. These statements were referring to Phil (and Larry), a fact that PACE intended to convey and

its members, in fact, understood. The November 2019 memo refers to PACE having commenced 

litigation against Phil (and Larry).

173. The Defamatory Words claim that the FRSA investigation had proven fraud, which is untrue.

By their natural and ordinary meaning, the Defamatory Words meant, were intended to convey, and 

were understood to mean that Phil had committed fraud, had breached his duties to PACE, and was 

responsible for governance failures at PACE.

174. In addition to the above, employees of FSRA and/or PACE have made various oral statements

to members of PACE - including at the PACE “town hall” held in December 2019 - conveying the 

idea that Phil had committed fraud, had breached his duties to PACE, and was responsible for 

governance failures at the Credit Union. Those statements are also Defamatory Words and false.

175. The Defamatory Words were false and maliciously published by FSRA and/or PACE knowing

that they were false or with careless disregard as to whether they were true or not. 
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176. As a result of the publication of the Defamatory Words, Phil has been subject to contempt and

has suffered damage to his reputation personally and professionally. All repetitions, republications, 

and broadcasts of the Defamatory Words have irrevocably damaged Phil’s professional character and 

reputation in his profession; as a further consequence, Phil has suffered embarrassment, humiliation, 

and damage to his personal character and reputation.

177. As a result of the Defamatory Words, Phil has suffered and will continue to suffer damages for

which FSRA and PACE are liable.

178. FSRA committed the tort of malfeasance in public office by obtaining the Administration

Order (in itself and by the fact that it was obtained without notice for an improper purpose) and the 

Mareva Order, as well as (among other things): 

(a) By freezing Phil’s accounts without any lawful authority; and

(b) By maintaining the Mareva injunction where no cause to do so existed and for the purpose

of gaining an undeserved tactical advantage.

179. By taking the above steps, FSRA acted with malice, for the purpose of injuring Phil; or acted

recklessly and with a mindful indifference to the probability that its actions would cause unjustified 

injury to Phil. FRSA’s actions and omissions (described in this Defence and Counterclaim and the 

Phil Smith Employment Claim) directly caused Phil to suffer damages.

180. In the further alternative, by taking the above steps, FSRA acted negligently, and below the

standard expected of a prudential regulator.
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181. FSRA engaged in independent actionable wrongs, as described above, for which Phil is entitled

to punitive and exemplary damages. FSRA’s conduct was harsh, vindictive, reprehensible, and 

malicious and this Honorable Court should find that the conduct of FSRA and PACE is deserving of 

an award of punitive and exemplary damages. 

182. Pursuant to Article 8.02 of PACE By-Law No. 1 (the “ ”), PACE is obligated to

indemnify Phil, as a former officer of PACE, and to advance his legal expenses to defend the Claim 

and any related civil and administrative proceedings. The By-Law states:

8.02 subject to the limitations contained in the Act, the Credit Union shall
indemnify a director, officer, or committee member, a former director or officer 
or committee member, or a person who acts or acted at the Credit Union’s
request as a director or officer of a body corporate of which the Credit Union is 
or was a member, shareholder or creditor, and his or her heirs and legal 
representatives, against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount 
paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgement, reasonably incurred by him or 
her in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to 
which he or she is made a party by reason of being or having been a director 
or officer of the Credit Union or such body corporate, if:

(a) he or she acted in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Credit Union; and

(b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that
is enforced by a monetary penalty, he or she had reasonable grounds for
believing that his or her conduct was lawful.

The Credit Union shall also indemnify such person in such other circumstances 
as the Act permits or requires. [emphasis added]
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183. Section 157 of the Act states that:

(3.1) A credit union may advance money to an eligible person to pay for the 
costs, charges and expenses of any proceeding to which the person is made a 
party by reason of serving or having served in a qualifying capacity, but the 
person is required to repay the money if either of the conditions described in 
subsection (5) is not satisfied.

(4) With the approval of a court, a credit union may indemnify an eligible
person in respect of a proceeding by or on behalf of the credit union or entity to
procure a judgment in its favour to which the person is made a party by reason
of serving or having served in a qualifying capacity.

184. Phil was an officer of the Credit Union pursuant to the By-Law at all relevant times and is an

“eligible person” under section 157(1)(b) of the Act. At all times, Phil acted in good faith and in the 

best interests of PACE. He fulfils the requirements under the By-Law and under section 157 of the 

Act.

185. Phil is entitled to indemnification for the legal fees that he has already incurred in defending

the Claim and is entitled to continuing advancement of legal fees pending disposition of the action. In 

the alternative, this action was commenced by FSRA, acting as Administrator for PACE. In the event 

that this is a derivative action pursuant to the Act, then Phil is entitled to indemnification for his fees 

pursuant to section 157(4) of the Act and for continuing advancement of legal fees pending disposition 

of the Claim.

186. The Plaintiff by Counterclaim seeks his costs of this action on a substantial indemnity basis.

187. The Plaintiff by Counterclaim proposes that this counterclaim be tried together with the main

action and the Phil Smith Employment Claim. 
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188. The Defendant, Phil makes the following Crossclaims against the Defendants Brent Bailey,

Deborah Baker, Ian Goodfellow, Al Jones, Wendy Mitchell, Peter Rebellati, Jim Tindall, Pauline 

Wainwright, Neil Williamson, and George Pohle, all of whom are former directors of PACE (the 

“ ”):

a) Contribution and indemnity under section 2 of the Ontario Negligence Act, R.S.O.

1990, c. N.1, as amended, for any amounts for which Phil may be held liable to the Plaintiff in 

this action;

b) Contribution and indemnity under the common law and equity for any amounts for

which Phil may be held liable to the Plaintiff in this action;

c) The costs of this action on a substantial indemnity basis, plus all applicable taxes; and

d) Such further and other relief as to this Honourable Court may deem just.

189. Phil repeats and relies on his Statement of Defence for the purposes of this Crossclaim.  In

particular, Phil denies any liability in respect of: (a) the impugned loans transactions and other 

transactions; (b) the impugned payments; (c) PACE’s financial reporting; and/or (d) the Preferred 

Shares.  Phil further denies that PACE has suffered any losses as a result of the Defendants’ alleged 

misconduct.

190. However, if Phil is liable to the Plaintiff, which is not admitted, Phil pleads that the Plaintiff’s

losses were caused or contributed to by the Directors’ failure to fulfil their duties to PACE.   

191. The Directors were fiduciaries of and owed a duty to PACE to act with the care, skill, and

diligence reasonably expected of a prudent director. Phil was at all times honest and transparent with 

the Board and Credit Committee and provided the Directors with all of the information and 
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documentation that they required to fulfil their duties to PACE. The Directors nonetheless breached 

their duties to PACE and caused PACE to incur losses by:  

a) If any of the payments referred to in paragraphs 111-115 or 117-125 of the Claim were

improperly received, failing to conduct reasonable due diligence, make reasonable inquiries, 

and follow PACE’s governance standards when reviewing the expenses submitted to the Board 

and when approving the payments made by PACE.  Larry and Phil disclosed every dollar that 

they received, and each of those payments was stamped and approved;

b) If any of the loans granted by the Credit Union were offside lending practices, failing

to conduct reasonable due diligence, make reasonable inquiries, and follow PACE’s 

governance standards, statutory obligations, and commercial lending practices when reviewing 

and approving the impugned loans and other transactions.  In particular, the Directors voted to 

approve and/or were aware of the Impugned Transactions; 

c) If PACE’s financial reports were inaccurate, failing to ensure that PACE met its

financial reporting obligations under section 140 of the Act and section 28 of the General 

Regulations.  The Directors voted to approve the Credit Union’s financial statements each year; 

and

d) If damages are owed to the investor claimants, failing to oversee and ensure the

regulatory compliance of PACE’s subsidiaries including in relation to the Preferred Shares. 

(Among other things, the Directors approved the sale of the Preferred Shares and the FHH 

investments to investors (including Credit Union members) by PACE Securities.) 
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192. It was reasonably foreseeable that PACE would suffer harm if the Directors failed to meet their

requisite standard of care to PACE.  Phil, PACE, and its members relied on the Directors to exercise 

their discretion in a manner that was consistent with their fiduciary duty and standard of care. 

193. If the court in the main action finds that Phil is liable for damages relating to any matter

approved by the board or relating to any matter of which the board had knowledge, then the Directors 

breached their duty and standard of care and fiduciary duties to PACE. The Directors breached those 

duties by failing to conduct sufficient due diligence and by failing to make sufficient inquiries with 

respect to the Impugned Transactions during their tenure as directors of PACE and/or members of the 

audit committee.  To the extent that PACE has suffered damages in relation to any of the Impugned 

Transactions during the period of the Directors’ tenure as directors of PACE, those damages were 

caused by the negligence of and breaches of fiduciary duty by the Directors.

194. Phil relies on the provisions of the Ontario Negligence Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. N.1 in support of

this Crossclaim.

July , 2021 
Royal Bank Plaza, South Tower 
200 Bay Street, Suite 2305 
Toronto, ON  M5J 2J3 

LSO No. 32102C
sweisz@wfklaw.ca
Tel: 416.613.8281

LSO No. 58328D
skour@wfklaw.ca
Tel: 416.613.8283

LSO  No. 65462N 
pcorney@wfklaw.ca
Tel: 416.613.8287
Fax: 416.613.8290
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Court File No. CV- 19-00616388-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE  

COMMERCIAL LIST 
BETWEEN:  

PACE SAVINGS & CREDIT UNION LIMITED, BY ITS ADMINISTRATOR, 
FINANCIAL SERVICES REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

Plaintiff 

a n d  

LARRY SMITH, PHILLIP SMITH, 1428245 ONTARIO LTD., 809755 ONTARIO  
LTD. (a.k.a. ELECTIVE BENEFIT INSURANCE SERVICES), MALEK SMITH,  

1916761 ONTARIO LTD., 1724725 ONTARIO LTD.,  
FRANK KLEES, KLEES & ASSOCIATES LTD., RON WILLIAMSON, R.  

WILLIAMSON CONSULTANTS LIMITED, RON WILLIAMSON QUARTER  
HORSES INC., BRIAN HOGAN, BRENT BAILEY, DEBORAH BAKER, IAN  

GOODFELLOW, AL JONES, WENDY MITCHELL, GEORGE POHLE, PETER  
REBELLATI, JIM TINDALL, PAULINE WAINWRIGHT, NEIL WILLIAMSON  

and JOANNA WHITFIELD 
Defendants 

STATEMENT OF DEFENCE, COUNTERCLAIM AND CROSSCLAIM OF BRENT 
BAILEY, DEBORAH BAKER, IAN GOODFELLOW, AL JONES, WENDY MITCHELL, 

PETER REBELLATI, JIM TINDALL, PAULINE WAINWRIGHT, NEIL 
WILLIAMSON, AND GEORGE POHLE 

1. The Defendants, Brent Bailey, Deborah Baker, Ian Goodfellow, Al Jones, Wendy Mitchell, 

Peter Reballati, Jim Tindall, Pauline Wainwright, Neil Williamson, and George Pohle 

(collectively, “the D&Os”), deny, or have no knowledge, of the allegations contained in the Fresh 

as Amended Statement of Claim (the “Claim”) unless expressly admitted herein.  

Overview  

2. The within Claim is brought by the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario 

(“FSRA” or the “Administrator”), as Administrator for PACE Savings & Credit Union Limited 
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(“PACE” or the “Credit Union”). In this Claim, FSRA alleges, without any factual or legal basis, 

that the D&Os failed to detect and stop various transactions that were orchestrated by the Other 

Defendants (as defined below at paragraph 26), or any of them and seeks to recover damages 

suffered by the Credit Union, as a result of, among other things, FSRA’s own decisions as a 

regulator and administrator. 

3. The within Claim makes bald allegations, and does not allege any particulars against the 

D&Os. The D&Os deny the allegations as set forward in the within Claim and plead that there is 

no basis whatsoever for the relief claimed against them in paragraph 9 of the Claim. 

4. Contrary to the allegation in the Claim, the D&Os, at all material times, exercised their 

powers and discharged the duties of their office honestly, in good faith and in the best interest of 

PACE. Further, the D&Os exercised the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonable person 

acting as a director and officer of a credit union would exercise in comparable circumstances.  

5. Further, the D&Os were entitled to rely on Larry Smith, Phil Smith and the Management 

(as defined below) to carry on the day-to-day business of PACE, including with respect to the 

PACE’s investment(s) and the D&Os were entitled to accept information and explanations 

provided by Larry Smith, Phil Smith and the Management with respect to PACE’s investment(s).  

6. Further, the alleged improprieties of the Other Defendants, for which FSRA is seeking 

damages from the D&Os, were undetected by FSRA as the regulator (formerly a function 

performed by Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario or “DICO”), by PACE’s internal and 

external auditors and other experts retained by PACE for a number of these transactions over the 

years.  
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7. Contrary to the allegations in paragraph 10 of the Claim, the D&Os deny that they owed 

any direct or indirect duty of care or fiduciary duties to Pace Securities Corp. (“PSC”) or to the 

Investor Claimants. They did not have any duty to supervise PSC’s relationship with the Credit 

Union, its subsidiaries, or to supervise the design, development, offering, promotion, sale and  

distribution of the Preferred Shares (as defined in the Claim). PSC had its own board of directors 

who were responsible for the functions of PSC which was also a regulated entity. 

8. Further, the D&Os deny that the alleged damages claimed by the Investor Claimants (as 

defined in paragraph 166 of the Amended Statement of Claim and referred to hereinafter as the 

“Investor Claimants”), were caused or contributed by the D&Os. FSRA’s Claim lacks the factual 

and legal foundation to seek these alleged damages from the D&Os.  

9. The D&Os deny that they are liable for the $25,000,000.00 alleged to have been paid to 

Investor Claimants in the purported settlement of their claim for damages as particularised in 

paragraph 10(a) of the Claim. The D&Os, did not participate in this purported settlement, the 

details of which remain undisclosed to the D&Os. 

The Parties  

10. FSRA is the regulator of credit unions in Ontario pursuant to Credit Unions and Caisses 

Populaires Act, 1994 (the “Act”). FSRA administers deposit insurance to members of Ontario’s 

credit unions and is the regulatory supervisor and, where required, administrator and liquidator of 

credit unions (as those terms are defined by the Act). Effective June 8, 2019, FSRA amalgamated 

with DICO, the former entity that carried out the prudential regulation of credit unions in Ontario 

under the Act. For ease of reference, the regulator shall be referred to as FSRA regardless of 

whether the event described took place prior to or after June 8, 2019.  
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